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TO:  Historic & Architectural Preservation Commission 

FROM: Sam Perry, AICP  
Director 

DATE: November 3, 2023 

RE:  110 East High Street – Re-classification 

 

Project Architect Emily Lubbers, from MSP Design has been retained by property owner Benjy 
Federbush to seek a re-classification of a portion of the former book store property located at 110 
East High Street. MSP Design retained Naylor Wellman LLC to conduct a detailed analysis of the 
historic designation of the building as found in the 2018 Uptown District Inventory. 

Naylor Wellman LLC determined that although the 2018 Inventory categorized the two-story 
façade portion as “Historic” it should actually be “Historic Non-contributing” because the historic 
form and character of the building is not visually accessible and has been obliterated by 
incompatible remodeling, irreversible alteration, decay or damage. 

Please see the attached 36 page report for complete details. 

City staff does not find any errors or omissions in the findings in this report and therefore believe 
that a re-classification could be supported by the information provided. 

This is the first re-classification request that has been processed since the adoption of the 2018 
Inventory. 

Acceptance of the request would still mean that a re-use plan is required in order to approve total 
demolition. However, the re-use plan would not automatically require the preservation of the 
two-story façade. Therefore the acceptance of the request, allows a wider variety of re-use plan 
options to be considered in the future. 

MEMORANDUM  

Community Development Department 
513-524-5204 
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DATE: October 20, 2023 

PROJECT ADDRESS: 108-110 E. High Street, Oxford, Butler County, OH                                                                        

TO: Architect Emily Lubbers, MSP Design  

FROM: Naylor Wellman, LLC, Preservation Consultants 

OVERVIEW 

Naylor Wellman is providing this Architectural and Historical Significance Report for the City of 

Oxford Historic and Architectural Preservation Commission (HAPC) in their determination of 

the historic significance of the front portion of 108 E. High Street (Butler County Parcel 

H4100003000172).   

 

QUALIFICATIONS 

Principals, Wendy Hoge Naylor and Diana Wellman, are registered Preservation Consultants 

qualified under the Federal Historic Preservation Professional requirements as described in the 

U.S. Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Archeology and Historic Preservation (48 FR 44716).  

See attached Naylor Wellman Bio and Resumes. 

Sources 
 

✓ Site Visit and Photo Documentation  – October 10, 2023 
 

✓ Smith Library of Regional History Photo Collection 
   
✓ Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps 1887, 1892, 1899, 1911, 1925  
 

✓ Butler County Atlas Maps & Pictorial Reviews dated 1875, 1895, 1900, 1914 
   
✓ Oxford Phone Books   
 

✓ OHI (Ohio Historic Inventory) Form – Site of the Girard Hotel, W.W. Mac Company, BUT-

0245201, 110 East High Street, Oxford 
  
✓ Chronological History – Prepared by Historic Preservation Consultant Elizabeth Sullebarger  
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PROPERTY LOCATION AND HISTORIC DESIGNATION  

Property Location  
108 E. High Street is located on the north side of E. High Street, east of N. Poplar Street in the City of Oxford.  

The property is composed of Butler County Parcel H4100003000172 along with a rear addition on Parcel 

H4100003000169. The 1839-1859 front portion of the building is identified as Historic and Federal style.  It has 

experienced extensive alterations from 1911 to 1970 with a loss of historic material and architectural language, 

resulting in a lack of historic integrity. 

ALTERATIONS 

▪ In 1970, 108 E. High became physically connected and functionally related to 110 E. High/ Parcel 
H4100003000173 with removal of the first floor west wall of the 1839-1859 original portion of the 
building.     

▪ The rear north wall of 108 E. High /Parcel H4100003000172, 1839-1859 original portion of the building 
has been entirely removed.    

▪ 13 N. Poplar /Parcel H4100003000168 is fully connected to the 110 E. High /Parcel H4100003000173 
portion of the building at the south side and Parcel 108 E. High/Parcel H4100003000169 portion of the 
building at the east side. 

▪ No interior demising walls remain from the historically divided commercial space. 
▪ All four Parcels are under the common ownership of 110 High Street, LLC and are physically connected 

on the interior. 

  

H4100003000173 

110 E. High St. 

1959 

H4100003000168

13 N. Poplar St. 

Post-1925 

1839-59 

H4100003000172 

108 E. High St. 

 

H4100003000169 

108 E. High St 

Post-1925 
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Historic Designation - City of Oxford – Uptown Historic District Inventory – February 2018  

▪ The front portion of 108 E. High/Parcel H4100003000172 is designated “Historic” and recognized by the 

Inventory as the “2 story portion of the former Follets” with an address of “110 E. High.”  
 

▪ The rear addition to 108 E. High/Parcel H4100003000169, 110 E. High/Parcel  H4100003000173 and 13 

N. Poplar/Parcel H4100003000168 portions of the building are designated Non-Contributing.  

                                                                        

 

 

 

City of Oxford Code: 1152.03 (f) (2)   Historic Structure: Any structure that has or once had special character, or 

special historic or architectural value as part of the development, heritage or cultural characteristics of Oxford, 

the State of Ohio, or the United States, and which has been designated as such pursuant to the provisions of this 

chapter.  Structures in this category will generally be fifty (50) or more years of age. The historic form and 

character of the building is visually accessible and if not accessible, it could be restored to its historic form and 

character.  

City of Oxford Code 1152.03 (g)   "Historic Non-contributing" means structures that will generally be fifty (50) or 

more years of age. The historic form and character of the building is not visually accessible or has been 

obliterated by incompatible remodeling, irreversible alteration, decay, or damage. 
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HISTORY - FRONT PORTION of 108 E. HIGH STREET / Parcel H4100003000172 

History  

The front brick portion of 108 E. High/Parcel H4100003000172 was constructed in 1839 as a house and frame 

shop by David Lathrup on the west portion of the lot.  By 1859, he owned two brick houses and a stable on the 

lot.   In 1866-67, L.G. Rosebloom opened a boots and shoes repair shop (cobbler) within the west portion.  

Between 1880-1890, “The Barracks” tenement house became located to the east next to the west side of 

Hendricks Cobbler Shop.  

 

 

  

Girard House to the left has been demolished and 108 E. High  to the right.  

Photo, ca. 1860s   

Source: Smith Library of Regional History     

108  E. High  
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1887 
By 1887, the two-story building with slate roof was composed of two dwelling units flanking a central stair each 

with a rear one-story wing.  The west dwelling unit had an adjoining cobbler area which shared the rear wing.  A 

dotted line indicates a full-width canopy, porch or overhang at the façade.    Note historic address is – 333, 334, 

335 High Street. 

1887 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1892-1899 
By 1892, the two-story building with slate roof was composed of two dwelling units with rear one-story wings 

remaining.  A side-gabled roof is noted.  The canopy, porch or overhang at the façade remains.   The cobbler area is 

vacant.  Note the configuration remains the same in 1892 and 1899.  

1899 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map  
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1911 

By 1911, the two-story building with slate roof was converted to three dwelling units with the two 

easternmost units connected.  The west cobbler unit was converted to an additional separate dwelling unit with 

separate rear one-story wing.  The canopy, porch or overhang at the façade remains. Interior changes indicate 

that the central stair was removed/altered.  The first floor fenestration pattern was completely changed from the 

ca. 1860s appearance. Note that the addresses were changed to 108, 110, 112, 114 perhaps indicating an 

upstairs unit.  

1911 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map 
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Girard House (100 E. High) and  

108-114 E. High  

Photo, 1916  

Source: Smith Library of 

Regional History     

108-114  E. High  
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Girard House (100 E. High) and 108-114 E. High 

Photo, 1918  

Source: Smith Library of Regional History   

 

Note: First Floor Façade with multiple slender bays 

covered by a full length slightly projecting roof.    

108-114  E. High  
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1925 

By 1925, the two-story building with shingle roof was converted to three connected commercial use units.  

Stores reside in the easternmost units and a “vulcanizing” business in the western unit with rear one-story wings 

removed.  The canopy or porch at the façade remains.  Two Gas Tanks are noted in the front of the building  

Address- 108, 110, 112, 114 High Street.   

1925 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N 



                    ARCHITECTURAL and HISTORICAL  
                       SIGNIFICANCE  REPORT 

 
 

P A G E  10 | 1 0 8 - 1 1 0  E a s t  H i g h  S t r e e t ,  O x f o r d ,  O h i o  

n a y l o r w e l l m a n . c o m 

 

1926 -1931 
In 1926-1931 Humbach’s Service Station and Humbach’s Radio Store occupied 108-114 E. High with an apartment 

above.  From 1933-36, Carmin’s Service Station was located here, converting to Carmin’s Auto Sales in 1941.  From 

1949-1957, Fryman Motor Sales (Oldsmobile) occupied the building.  Note that the first floor fenestration pattern 

completely changed from the 1911 configuration. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Girard House (to the left)  and Fryman Motor Sales 

(Oldsmobile) at 108 E. High (to the right) until 1957 

Photo, 1953  

Source: Smith Library of Regional History  

 

First Floor Façade Commercial Alterations: 

▪ First (West) bay - Divided lite double door 

with divided lite transom  

▪ Second Bay - Divided lite single door entry 

with transom  

▪ Third Bay - Fixed pane display window with 

divided light transom  

▪ Fourth Bay – 2 single door entries with 

tramsoms   

▪ Fifth (East) Bay – Garage door opening  

 

Note central chimney at roof below ridgeline 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

108-114  E. High  
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W.W. Mac Company (dime store)  replaces the Girard House which was razed in 1955 

Photo, ca. 1960  

Source: Smith Library of Regional History     
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108-110 E. High Street Building occupants:   

1958 - 108 - Goldflies Music Store until 1960; 110 - Cullen Printing Co.  

1960 - 108 - Myers Music Store replaces Goldflies; 110 - Cullen Printing Co.   

1965 - 108 - Myers Music Store; 110 - Typoprint Inca; Students listed in apartments above  

1969 - 108 - Myers until 1970; 110 - Typoprint Inca until 1970  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

108 E. High at the center 

Windowless bar called the Boar’s Head Inn with a dry cleaner at west (left) end  

Photos, ca. 1969   

Source: Uptown Historic District Inventory & Girard Hotel OHI Form BUT-2452-1      
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BUILDING ALTERATIONS & CONSTRUCTION    

The original 1839-59 Federal style front portion of 108 E. High Street/Parcel H4100003000172 has been engulfed 

by additions to the west and rear which are physically connected and impacting historic integrity.  

 

 

  

H4100003000168

13 N. Poplar St. 

H4100003000168

13 N. Poplar St. 

H4100003000169 

108 E. High St. 

H4100003000173 

110 E. High St. 
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Extensive renovations in 1970 to the exterior and interior changed the building creating an open interior 

connecting to 110 E. High on its west side.  Remodeling of the two-story 1839-59 108 E. High St. building for 

Miami Co-op Store was designed by architect David Briggs Maxfield with Follett’s Miami Co-op Store opening at 

110 E. High in 1971 to include 108 E. High. (Oxford Phone Book 1970, 1971)  It is unknown if the N. Poplar St. 

portion of the building was added at the same time.  The 108-110 portions of the buildings became functionally 

related over 50 years ago.  These additions lack architectural significance and do not relate to the Federal style of 

the 1839-59 original building. 

The west wall of the front portion of 1839-59 108 E. High was removed and replaced with contemporary brick 

and steel I-beams; contemporary wood beams and plywood under decking are installed throughout the ceiling.  

There is no evidence of the historic west brick wall elevation, wood joists or post and beam construction 

representative of the era. There are no interior demising walls as noted in historic Sanborn Fire Insurance maps. 

 

 

Former 108 E. High west elevation wall location 

with contemporary brick & steel I-beams above 

ceiling height.  West wall removed. Brick wall above 

I-beam is not consistent with 1839-59 masonry 

construction. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

View of front original 1839-59 portion of 108 E. High St. – from former location of west elevation wall, camera 

direction east.  No historic fabric remains.   

Demolished wall of 1839-59 portion  



                    ARCHITECTURAL and HISTORICAL  
                       SIGNIFICANCE  REPORT 

 
 

P A G E  15 | 1 0 8 - 1 1 0  E a s t  H i g h  S t r e e t ,  O x f o r d ,  O h i o  

n a y l o r w e l l m a n . c o m 

 

View of front portion of the original 1839-59 portion of 108 E. High – brick & steel I-beams throughout above 

dropped ACT ceiling.  No historic fabric remains.   

  

View of 108 E. High St. interior, camera direction northeast.  Note north wall has been removed.   
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The rear north elevation of the front portion of 108 E. High has been demolished, the demolition includes the 

north half of the building both first and second floor from the ridge of the side gable, reducing the building by 

half.                                                 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View of location of former 

rear north elevation, camera 

direction south      

Demolished rear half 

of 1839-59 portion  

 

View of location of former 

north rear elevation, camera 

direction northwest       
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View of Gable Ridge, roof angle of original 1839-59 building, showing the rear half of the 1839-59 demolished, 

camera direction south. 
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Second floor roof joists and sheathing – appear milled. 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Second Floor - View of roof construction,  camera direction southeast, up.   
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FAÇADE ALTERATIONS  

The 1839-59 108 E. High front portion two-story five-bay façade is composed of white painted brick and abuts 

the city sidewalk. The first floor has been altered from previous uses including multi-family residences, 

commercial stores, service station, car dealership, retail stores and most recently as Follett’s Miami Co-op 

Bookstore.  Non-historic canopy, doorway openings, windows and doors remain. 
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Façade - First Floor 
A non-historic contemporary full-width asphalt shingled wood shed roof with recessed lighting shelters the first 

floor.     

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
The first bay is composed of a non-historic contemporary double-door entry with a non-historic concrete step.   

A single door opening to the east at the second bay has been infilled with incompatible type brick, painted over 

and a non-historic small display box added.    
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A plate glass picture window at the third bay has been added resting on a knee wall composed of non-historic 

brick, inconsistent with the Federal style.     
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The non-historic contemporary faux raised panel single door with concrete step has been walled over on the 

interior and is inoperable.  The wall to the west of the door is non-historic brick. A small display box has been 

added to the east of the door with further alterations noted in the brick wall where a single door entry was 

infilled.    

Nonhistoric 

brick  

Interior 

location of 

walled over  

inoperable 

single door   
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The recessed east end bay is a non-historic alteration with red tile entryway, single door and contemporary brick 

walls.  It is unknown what the boarded-over area is covering.  This was a garage door entry when used as a car 

dealership.  
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Façade – Second Floor 

The second floor window fenestration pattern remains, with vinyl replacement windows installed in openings 

and simple painted non-historic wood trim concealing evidence of stone sills.   

A non-historic sign board conceals evidence of stone lintels at the second floor.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

White paint conceals evidence of alterations to the exterior and incompatible brick repair.  
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Brackets are not representative of the Federal style and do not appear to be a historic nor are they a character-

defining feature of the building.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A central chimney below the roof ridge has been removed.  
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Additional Interior Photos - Materials  

First Floor  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View of First Floor south 

façade wall, vinyl and 

ceramic tile flooring, drop 

ceiling, camera direction 

south 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View of First Floor picture 

window,  gypsum and slat 

wall materials,  camera 

direction southeast   
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Second Floor  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View of Second Floor vinyl replacement window, non-

historic trim, gypsum walls, drop ceiling and black mold,  

camera direction southeast.   

 

 

View of Second Floor non-historic 

trim, gypsum walls, drop ceiling and 

black mold, camera direction 

southwest.   
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CONNECTING PORTIONS OF THE BUILDING    

 

View of rear 108 E. High/Parcel H4100003000169, camera direction north.  
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   View from rear portion of 108 E. High to 13 N. Poplar portion, camera direction northwest     
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View of 110 E. High/Parcel H4100003000173 from 108 E. High  
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View of 13 N. Poplar Street/Parcel H4100003000168 portion of the building connecting to 108 and 110 E. High, 

camera direction north.  
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CONCLUSION  

I. The original 1839-59 108 E. High Street front portion of the building, composed of approximately 

2,363.05 sf, does not retain historic integrity.  

 

▪ The rear half of the building from the side gable ridge line northward has been obliterated, 

cutting the front 1839-59 portion of the building in half with a post-1925 addition.   

▪ The 110 E. High Street one-story portion to the west, although constructed as a separate 

building, was adjoined in 1970 obliterating the west wall of the 1839-59 portion of 108 E. High 

making the buildings functionally related.   

▪ It is unknown if 13 N. Poplar was modified at the same time in 1970 but it is now an adjoining 

portion of the building.   

 

Additions and an adjoining building have engulfed the 1839-59 108 E. High Street front portion 

impacting its significance as a Federal style building for which it was designated as part of the Uptown 

Historic District.  The total square footage of the connected portions is approximately 18,829 sf with 

the historic 1839-59 portion as 12.5% of the total.  

 

II. As recognized by the Uptown Historic District Inventory, the 108 (110) 1839-59 Federal style front 

portion of the building “has an altered asymmetrical front façade.”   

 

▪ The first floor façade has been altered with new openings, incompatible brick repair and 

alterations which have been painted to camouflage changes.   

▪ A plate glass window resting on a contemporary brick knee wall, box displays, a recessed end 

bay and a contemporary wood shed roof have been introduced and impact the historic 

character of the building.   

▪ The second floor fenestration pattern remains with non-historic vinyl replacement windows in 

openings. Evidence of stone sills and lintels is hidden by incompatible wood trim and a 

contemporary signboard.  

▪ Brackets are not representative of the Federal style.  

▪ The central roof chimney has been removed.    

 

III. No interior historic fabric remains beyond roof joists and framing.  

  

▪ The interior does not retain first floor historic demising walls.  

▪ The second floor residential demising walls have also been demolished leaving no evidence of 

this use.    
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▪ No interior finishes remain with the first floor completely gutted and second floor plaster 

removed from walls and ceilings with no historic trim, baseboards or doors.   

▪ The interior of the building is composed of contemporary vinyl and ceramic tile floor, gypsum 

walls, plate glass picture window, contemporary plywood under decking and steel I-beams.   

▪ Black mold has infiltrated the building.   

 

FINDINGS  
 

The 1839-59 108 E. High Street front portion of the building is “Historic Non-contributing” defined by 

City of Oxford Code 1152.03 (g) as structures that will generally be fifty (50) or more years of age. The 

historic form and character of the building is not visually accessible and has been obliterated by 

incompatible remodeling, irreversible alteration, decay, or damage. 

 

▪ The building no longer conveys its Federal style architectural features beyond the façade 

exterior second floor fenestration pattern and has been engulfed by later additions. White paint 

on the façade has largely camouflaged the loss of historic materials. 

 

▪ The only remaining exterior historic fabric appears to be remnants at the façade including some 

first floor brick, second floor brick and fenestration pattern, and gable roof framing. There is no 

evidence of first floor to second floor post and beam construction that would have been typical 

of the era.  

 

▪ No interior historic fabric remains beyond roof joists and framing.  Black mold has infiltrated the 

building.   
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1. WE WILL KNOW YOUR 

PROJECT. We make it our business 
to understand your project and 
provide the knowledge and 
resources towards the significant 
matters that impact your project. 
 

2. WE WILL MANAGE THE 

PROJECT AS IF WE WERE THE 
CLIENT. We will deliver the 
highest quality of service on time 
and in the most effective manner. 
 

3. WE WILL BE ENGAGED. From 

the beginning, we will work with 
you to develop a plan that meets 
your strategic goals and will be 
available whenever necessary to 
adjust those goals as the project 
develops. 
 

4. WE WILL COMMUNICATE 

OFTEN. We will provide regular 
updates on the progress of your 
project, including significant 
developments, and offer 
approaches to address changes 
that affect your project. 

 
TEAM  APPROACH 

We ask that you share your 
objectives, so we can manage our 
services to help you obtain them, 
and inform us as your goals 
change. 
 
We want to know your preferred 
methods of communication, so we 
can deliver our services to you 
effectively. 
 
 
 
 

   
 

is a State of Ohio certified Women-Owned 

Business Enterprise (WBE) located in Northeast Ohio. The firm was 
established in 2013 and specializes in historic building preservation and 
adaptive-use, architectural history and historic preservation planning and  
experience spanning 50 years with projects in Ohio, Connecticut, Illinois, 
Indiana, Kansas, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, West Virginia and 
Wisconsin.   
 

Principals  and  are 
registered Preservation Consultants qualified under the Federal Historic 
Preservation Professional requirements as described in the United States 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Archeology and Historic 
Preservation (48 FR 44716).   

 

Together, they have listed on the National Register 50 individual buildings 
and 24 historic districts, encompassing 4k+ historic resources and assisted 
clients in acquiring $140k in awards from the Ohio Pipeline Pilot Initiative 
Grant and $200k in CLG Grants. Since 2009, their portfolio of rehabilitation 
projects has secured Federal tax credits valued at $160M+ and 51 OHPTC 
awards at $110M+. During their careers, they have completed 65+ 
successful historic tax credit projects.    
 

Services offered include National Register Nominations, Federal and State 
Historic Tax Credit Applications, Local Historic Building Surveys, Historic 
American Building Surveys, Historic American Engineering Records, Section 
106, Preservation Planning, and Historic Design Guidelines. 

 



 

     

W E N D Y  H.  N A Y L O R - Principal 
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CREDENTIALS 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXPERIENCE 
 
 
 
 
 

 

                                                  EDUCATION 
 
 

    
 

 

Over Twenty-Five (25) years of experience in Historic Preservation: 
Preservation Tax Credit, Section 106 Review, National Register 
Nomination process, Design Guidelines, Historic Architectural 
Building Survey.  

 

Advocate for Historic Preservation Community Initiatives:  Feasibility 
plans and marketing strategies for redevelopment and reuse of 
historic properties; Involvement in the formation of local and 
statewide historic preservation and Main Street groups.   

 

Section 106 Certification: Historic Projects and Historic Preservation Law. 
 

Attorney, Admitted to Ohio Bar 
 

Member: National Trust for Historic Preservation, Ohio Historical Society, 
Heritage Ohio, Cleveland Restoration Society, and Cleveland Museum 
of Art Associate’s Program graduate.   

 

Principal and Co-Founder • Naylor Wellman, LLC • May 2013 to present 
 
 

Principal and Founder • The Naylor Company • May 2011 to present 
 
 

Registered Preservation Consultant 

qualified under the Federal Historic 

Preservation Professional 

requirements as described in the 

U.S. Secretary of the Interior's 

Standards for Archeology and 

Historic Preservation (48 FR 44716).   

2009  Maxine Goodman Levin College of Urban Affairs, Cleveland     
State University • Masters in Urban Planning, Design and  

 Development; Specialization in Historic Preservation, GPA 4.0
  

1985    Admitted to Ohio Bar      
                                                                         
 

1984    Wake Forest University School of Law • Juris Doctorate,  
             Law Review  
 
1979     St. Lawrence University • B.A., Government      
                               
1975     Hawken School  

  

ORGANIZATIONAL WORK 

2012 to Present   

Board Member,  

Western Reserve Historical Society  
 

2016 to Present  

Board Voting Member, Chagrin Falls 

Architectural Board of Review  
 

2008-2018 

Board Member,  

Your HomeTown Chagrin Falls 
 

2000-2002 

Founding Member, Board of Trustees, 

Heritage Ohio   
 

1993-98 

Co-Founder, Chair, Board of Trustees, 

Chagrin Falls Preservation   

 

 

 



 

      

D I A N A   L.   W E L L M A N - Principal 
 
 
 

 
 

n a y l o r w e l l m a n . c o m 
 

CREDENTIALS 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXPERIENCE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

                                                  EDUCATION 
 
 

    
 

 

Over Twenty Five (25) years of experience in Historic Preservation: 
Preservation Tax Credit, Section 106 Review, National Register 
Nomination, Building Surveys, Historic HABS/HAER documentation 
Design Guidelines, Preservation Planning, & Conservation 
Easements. 

 

Experience working with the National Park Service and State Historic 
Preservation Offices in: Ohio, Michigan, Pennsylvania, New York, 
Connecticut, Indiana, Illinois, and Wisconsin. 

 

Proficient in Design Software and Design Skills: Emphasis in Adaptive-
Use, Historic Preservation, Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for 
Rehabilitation and alternative compliance code sections of the 
International Building Code. 

 

Member: National Trust for Historic Preservation, Heritage Ohio, 
Western Reserve Historical Society, Cleveland Restoration Society, 
Future Heights, & Cleveland Hts. Home Resource Center. 

 

Principal and Co-Founder • Naylor Wellman, LLC • May 2013 to present 
 
 

Principal and Founder • Preservation Principles Consulting, LLC • May 
2009 to present 

 
Preservation Specialist • Sandvick Architects • Jan. 1998 to May 2009 
 
 

Registered Preservation Consultant 

qualified under the Federal Historic 

Preservation Professional 

requirements as described in the 

U.S. Secretary of the Interior's 

Standards for Archeology and 

Historic Preservation (48 FR 44716).   

1999    Maxine Goodman Levin College of Urban Affairs, Cleveland     
State University • Masters of Urban Studies, ABT 

 
1997    Belmont College • A.A.S., Building Preservation and Restoration, 

Cum Laude     
                                                                         
 

1996    Kent State University • M.F.A., Art History 20CH, GPA 3.75 
 
1995    Ohio University • B.F.A., Art History, Cum Laude                                 

  
 

AWARDS 
2009   Community Improvement 

Award for Historic Preservation  

City of Cleveland Heights 

   

2013   Legacy Award  

Western Reserve Historical Society    

ORGANIZATIONAL WORK 
2023 – present Little Italy Design 

Review Committee 

 

2011-2015   Citizen Advisory 

Commission, City of Cleveland Hts. 




